
 

 

  ANNUAL 
REPORT 
2016/2017 

 



 
COMPETITION COMMISISON – ANNUAL REPORT 2016/2017                                                                                                                2 
 

 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Mission Statement……………………………………………………………………………………………………………..03 

Chairperson’s Message…………………………………………………………………………………......................04 

Executive Director’s Message.…………………………………………………………………………………………….06 

Corporate Governance Report…………..............................……………………………………………………10 

Operational Review………………………………………………………………………………………......................14 

Outreach Initiatives……………………………………………………………………………………………………………25 

Capacity Building………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..30 

Strategic Directions……………………………………………………..........................................................34 

Financial Statements………………………………………………………………………………………………………….38 



 
COMPETITION COMMISISON – ANNUAL REPORT 2016/2017                                                                                                                3 
 

MISSION, VISION AND VALUES  

 

  

MISSION 

To promote competition, 

by enforcing the 

Competition Act, in the 

interest of consumers, 

businesses and the 

Mauritian economy. 

VISION 

To be the leading 

competition authority in 

the region, recognised 

for its integrity, 

professionalism and 

contribution to economic 

growth. 

VALUES 

Integrity 

Transparency 

Respect 

Team Spirit 
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CHAIRPERSON’S MESSAGE 

With the coming into 

operation of the 

Competition Act 2007 

(the Act) in 2009, the 

Act will soon be 

entering its decade of 

enforcement.  It is 

encouraging to note 

that the pace of 

competition regulation 

and enforcement in Mauritius is once again 

picking up with five completed investigations 

and five new ones undertaken during the period 

under review.   

The Commission, for its part, issued four 

decisions, including an advice under section 19 

of the Act.  Though much remains to be done, 

the Competition Commission of Mauritius (CCM) 

is establishing a fair enforcement record in 

helping to deliver competitive markets.  We are 

of course accountable for the work we do and 

the money we spend, and we hope to keep up 

the current momentum of cases mindful of our 

enforcement priorities and strategic plan.  

The Commission has always upheld its statutory 

mandate and delivered reasoned decisions in 

cases brought before it.  The application of 

competition principles to often-complex 

business transactions undoubtedly produce 

legally binding effects while raising important 

questions of law at times.  The Act provides a 

venue for appeal to dissatisfied parties to test 

the application of the economic and legal tests 

used and the soundness of the conclusions 

drawn.  In 2017 two Commission decisions were 

brought before the Supreme Court and it will be 

interesting to see how the assessments and 

reasoning of the Commission fare against 

judicial scrutiny in the near future.      

The period under review has seen the 

Commission handing down two important  

decisions.  In its decision relating to merchant 

discounts charged for the provision of hire 

purchase facilities, the Commission accepted 

the undertakings voluntarily offered by the 

enterprise concerned in reviewing downwards 

its merchant discount for some 676 small and 

medium merchants (SMEs).  This decision has a 

noteworthy bearing on lowering business costs 

and boosting the competitiveness of SMEs.  

  
The Commission also determined its first case 
involving a series of resale price maintenance 
(RPM) agreements within the chicken industry, 
imposing a hefty fine on a single enterprise.  It is 
to be noted that the Act prohibits and sanctions 
RPM agreements at par with collusive 
agreements.   

Firm steps must also be taken to detect and 

deter cartel activities that eliminate effective 

competition, undermine the competitiveness of 

our economy and, more importantly, impose 

unnecessary costs on consumers.  The 

Commission’s initiatives in running amnesty 

programmes for cartel initiators and RPM in 

2017 translate the efforts of the CCM in 

developing smart enforcement strategies for 

policing such behaviour.  As a competition 

authority, however, we must continuously 

cultivate an environment in which companies 

perceive a significant risk of detection by our 

authority if they enter into, or continue to 

engage in, illegal cartel activities.  

Faithful to our consistent efforts in building a 

regional footprint, the CCM has been the proud 

host of the African Competition Forum’s Biennial 

Meeting and the COMESA Competition 

Commission’s Board meeting, each of which 

culminated in the signing of a Memorandum of 

Understanding (MOU) between the CCM and 

the Competition Commission of South Africa on 

the one hand and between the COMESA 

Competition Commission and our agency.   
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CHAIRPERSON’S MESSAGE (Contd.)

These MOUs are strong instruments for 

deepening cooperation in better enforcing our 

laws, building on our human capital, and 

furthering the competition policy discourse in 

the region.                               

I would like, in conclusion, to extend my 

gratitude for the continuous support given by 

our key partners, industry players and members 

of the public that remain at the heart of our 

mission.  I also take this opportunity to thank my 

fellow Commission Members and the CCM staff 

for adhering to our organisational values.  I trust 

that our authority will continue to build upon 

the foundation laid down over the past eight 

years in bringing the Mauritian economy to even 

greater and more competitive heights. 

 

 

 

Ariranga G. Pillay, G.O.S.K 

Chairperson 
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S MESSAGE 

 
The year 2016/2017 has 

been a year of major 

achievements, a year of 

challenges, and of change; 

change to forge the way 

for the Competition 

Commission to reach new 

heights and establish itself 

as an inevitable player in 

the development of the 

competitive and economic landscape of Mauritius.    

I am pleased to present to you the Annual Report of 

the CCM for the period January 2016 to June 2017. 

This 6th Annual Report of the CCM presents the 

achievements of the CCM in meeting its 

enforcement and advocacy objectives and spells out 

our commitment to contribute towards the 

effectiveness and competitiveness of the economy, 

while maximising consumer benefits.  

Enforcement Achievements 
Competition law and policy enforcement has a key 

role in ensuring that markets are operating optimally 

to safeguard the economic development of a 

country and assist in improving the standard of living 

of its citizens.   

During the year under review, the CCM has 

completed 23 enquiries and 5 investigations across 

various sectors spanning from poultry to finance.  

I have completed an investigation in the hire-

purchase market, where Cim Finance Ltd has 

undertaken to reduce its maximum fee chargeable 

to merchants and review its pricing model. This is 

likely to bring down prices of goods bought on hire 

purchase and consequently create a level playing 

field among merchants. 

I have also submitted my report on the investigation 

into the fees associated with the use of payment 

cards. If my recommendations are accepted by the 

Commissioners, the fees charged to merchants for 

providing card acceptance facilities is expected to 

decrease to the ultimate benefit of consumers. 

In the telecommunications sector, I have submitted 

a report on pricing of mobile telephony, in 

particular, on the price charged for calls between 

different networks. If my recommendation is 

accepted by the Commissioners, price in this sector 

will also be reduced.  

During the period under review, the CCM also 

undertook two investigations where the concerned 

party ceased the investigated conduct and there was 

therefore no need for intervention.  

Furthermore, the CCM has initiated several 

enquiries, which also fall within its enforcement 

mandate. The CCM has advised the Government in 

relation to its decision on the banning of exportation 

of scrap metal, which we believe will negatively 

impact on competition. During the year under 

review, a market study into the construction 

industry has also been launched. 

Mauritius being a member of the Common Market 

for Eastern and Southern Africa (COMESA), we work 

in close collaboration with the COMESA Competition 

Commission (CCC). In that context, we have 

reviewed 21 mergers with a regional dimension 

which were notified to us by the CCC.   

Advocacy Achievements 
As part of its advocacy initiatives, the CCM has 

conducted a series of targeted workshops for 

various trade and professional associations.   

The CCM has partnered with the Mauritius Chamber 

of Commerce and Industry and the Institute for 

Judicial and Legal Studies to organise respective 

half-day sessions on competition for the benefit of 

the business community and legal practitioners.   

Cognizant of the important role which media 

reporters can play in complementing the CCM’s 

advocacy initiatives by transmitting the competition 

message to the wider public; the CCM has also 

conducted a workshop with business reporters to 

promote a better understanding of the role of 

competition in a market economy and show how the 

CCM’s enforcement activities further such goals.  
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S MESSAGE (Contd.)  

 

Combatting Resale Price Maintenance 
The year under review has marked the first decision 

of the CCM on Resale Price Maintenance (RPM) 

whereby a fine of Rs 29.9 million was imposed by the 

Commission. RPM is a hard-core restriction of the 

Act. It restricts competition among resellers and 

usually may facilitate cartels among suppliers, to the 

detriment of competition. The CCM has embarked in 

a fight against RPM.  

However, on the 5th June 2017, the CCM launched 

an RPM Amnesty programme giving enterprises an 

opportunity to amend their conduct. In return for 

collaboration and commitment of enterprises to 

amend their conduct, enterprises will be given 

immunity from fines. Once this amnesty lapses, we 

will employ our enforcement means to forcefully 

combat RPMs which remain.  

We have developed a successful collaboration with 

the Mauritius Chamber of Commerce and Industry 

to disseminate and facilitate the RPM Amnesty 

programme. We expect to reap the benefits of this 

programme in the next financial year, but have 

already noted its impact in the business landscape 

and increased awareness on RPM.    

Regional & international Partnerships 
As globalization continues, so does the need for 

collaboration in competition enforcement. In this 

perspective, the CCM has deepened its partnerships 

with regional partners during the year under review 

and signed memoranda of understanding with the 

COMESA Competition Commission (CCC) and the 

Competition Commission of South Africa 

respectively. The CCM closely collaborates with 

these agencies in its investigative endeavours.  

The CCM has been voted for the second time as vice-

chair of the African Competition Forum (ACF), a 

network of African national and multinational 

competition agencies, counting 34 members which 

promotes the principles of competition in the 

region.  

During the period, the CCM also hosted the ACF 

biennial annual meeting and the CCC Board of 

Commissioners meeting. The CCM also actively 

participated in SADC through its competition arm 

and working groups.  

With the learning and sharing process among peers 

being a two-way traffic and the CCM gaining 

enforcement momentum, the CCM has had the 

opportunity of sharing its experience with and 

extended technical assistance to the Malagasy 

Competition Authority and the Ethiopian 

Competition Authority.  The CCM prepared and 

delivered comprehensive training on competition 

policy and technical know-how in handling the 

different types of cases within the competition 

enforcement area.  

 

Forging the way towards new heights 
Progress means change. We endeavour to bring 

competition policy and enforcement to new heights 

of performance and efficacy for the benefit of the 

economy, businesses and consumers. To progress to 

that level, we cannot continue to operate the way 

we used to. There is need for change.  

This year we have laid the foundation for major 

changes that will continue in the coming years 

forging the way to a new level of performance and 

impact in competition enforcement.  

 

 

  

 CCM in Figures (2016/2017) 

 

 

 

 

Complaints 

65 

 

Enquiries 

23 

 

Investigations 

5 

 

Decisions 

3 

MOUs 
 

2 

Market Study 
& Advise 

2 

COMESA CC 
Merger Reviews 

21 

Advocacy 
Initiatives 

8 
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S MESSAGE (Contd.) 

 

We are redefining the way we work at the CCM 

through use of working groups for both functional 

and instrument-based structure, geared towards 

specialisation, accountability and ownership while 

maintaining our internal flexibility. To propel the 

CCM to another level we have continued to invest in 

our personnel’s core competence and knowledge, 

through capacity building. Commissioners and staff 

of the CCM have had the opportunity to cement 

their expertise through various workshops and 

conferences organised by institutions like the ICN, 

UNCTAD and OECD. The CCM sponsored two 

investigative staff to study specialized post-graduate 

courses in competition law and economics, which 

will enhance their expertise in this technical field. 

To reach our aim, it is important not only to 

consolidate existing capacity but also increase the 

investigative resources of the CCM. In that 

perspective, we are planning to recruit new staff to 

increase the footprint of the CCM and boost 

competition in markets.  

 

The competition world is fast changing and 

competition laws need to adapt to that changing 

environment. Coupled with the need for improved 

enforcement, it is high time to review the 

Competition Act 2007. Therefore the CCM has 

kicked-off a review process of the Competition Act. 

The review, which will be done in consultation with 

stakeholders, will aim at making the Competition Act 

2007 more effective.   

On a final note, I thank the Commissioners for their 

support and collaboration, and the staff of the CCM 

for their hard-work. I seize the opportunity to also 

convey my heartfelt thanks to all stakeholders for 

their support and trust placed in us.   

Going forward, while aiming for more effective 

enforcement framework, the CCM will continue to 

rigorously enforce the Competition Act. 

 

 

Deshmuk Kowlessur 

Executive Director



 
 

 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CORPORATE 

GOVERNANCE  
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  

In compliance with the Code of Corporate 

Governance for Mauritius, this section describes the 

corporate governance structures in place at the 

Competition Commission (the ‘CCM’). It provides an 

overview of the administration of the CCM and the 

systems and processes established for maintaining 

checks and balances, as well as for identifying and 

managing risks.  

Corporate governance sets the way in which an 

organisation operates and behaves both internally 

and externally; it is crucial for a healthy and highly 

performing organization. The CCM is wholly 

committed to attain the highest standards of 

corporate governance, gain recognition for its 

integrity and professionalism and achieve its mission 

of promoting competition by enforcing the 

Competition Act 2007 (the ‘Act’), in the interest of 

consumers, businesses and the economy. 

Transparency, impartiality, accountability and 

responsibility are the core values, which define the 

CCM’s corporate culture and guide dealings with all 

stakeholders. 

The Provisions of the Competition Act 
Under the Act, the Competition Commission is 

mandated to safeguard and uphold the process of 

competition by preventing and remedying 

anticompetitive business practices, and to promote 

and advertise the provision of the Act and the 

activities of the Commission. Anticompetitive 

business practices, also called restrictive business 

practices, may be in the form of cartels, abuse of 

monopoly situations and mergers that lessen 

competition. 

The Act establishes two distinct arms: an investigative 

one, which is spearheaded by the Executive Director, 

and an adjudicative one, the ‘Commission’, which is 

constituted of five Commissioners, namely, a 

Chairperson, a Vice-Chairperson, and three 

Commissioners.  

The Executive Director is empowered under the Act 

to investigate restrictive business practices that 

affect markets in Mauritius. Supported by staff under 

his administration, the Executive Director conducts 

investigations, market studies, and educational 

programmes. He is responsible for the day-to-day 

management and running of the Competition 

Commission. On their side, the Commissioners are 

provided with adjudicative duties under the Act, 

determining cases reported by the Executive Director 

and thereafter publishing reasoned decisions. This 

ensures transparency, independence, and 

accountability in its decision-making process. 

In the exercise of their statutory duties, the 

Commissioners and the Executive Director are called 

upon to act independently. The Executive Director is 

neither subject to the direction or control of the 

Commissioners nor that of other person or authority. 

Similarly, the Commissioners are not subject to the 

direction or control of any person or authority.  

The provisions of the Act regarding the appointment 

of the Commissioners and the Executive Director 

ensure and promote good governance practices 

within the institution. Under the Act, Commissioners 

and the Executive Director are appointed by the 

President of the Republic of Mauritius on the advice 

of the Prime Minister following consultation with the 

Leader of the Opposition. 

Commissioners hold office for a term of five years and 

not more than two consecutive terms in case they are 

re-appointed. They are appointed by virtue of their 

qualifications and experience in law, economics, 

accountancy, or commerce and must comprise of 

people from the public and private sectors as well as 

from the academia. The Act does not limit the 

Executive Director’s term of appointment and it 

guarantees security of tenure for both the latter and 

the Commissioners. In addition, the Commissioners, 

the Executive Director and every staff member of the 

Commission are required, under the Act, to declare 

their assets and liabilities as well as those of their 

spouse and children, to the Independent Commission 

Against Corruption on an annual basis. Based on the 

above provisions, the Act clearly sets the base for 

sound corporate governance within the Commission.  
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (Contd.) 

Administration of the Commission 
The 18-months’ period ending 30 June 2017 was a 

particularly important one for the CCM, as it marked 

the nominations of four new Commissioners on 15th 

April 2016. The Commissioners are:  

 

1. Mr. Ariranga G Pillay G.O.S.K - Chairperson 

2. Mr. Alberto Mariette - Vice-Chairperson 

3. Mr. Candhayalallsing Seebaluck  - Commissioner 

4. Mrs. Mariam Rajabally - Commissioner 

5. Mrs. Vedwantee Bikhoo – Commissioner 

 

From 1st January 2016 to 14th April 2016, there were 

four only Commissioners, the Vice-Chairperson’s 

position being vacant. The Commissioners were: 

1. Mr. Ariranga G Pillay G.O.S.K - Chairperson 

2. Mr. Rodney Rama - Commissioner 

3. Mr. Reshad Sadool - Commissioner 

4. Mrs. Selvam Poonoosamy - Commissioner 

 

 

The Commission holds monthly meetings for the 

effective discharge of its functions. At any meeting, 

three Commissioners constitute a quorum. The 

Executive Director attends Commission meetings, but 

does not have the right to vote. Special Commission 

meetings may also be convened when necessary, to 

address key issues. The Commission met twenty-one 

times during the 18-months period ending 30 June 

2017. The table below shows Commissioners’ 

attendance to Commission meetings (including 

special ones, if any) and their fees during the said 

period. 

 

 

 

 

 

COMMISSIONER COMMISSION  
MEETINGS 
ATTENDED 

APPOINTMENT DATE FEES (18-MONTHS 
PERIOD ENDING 

30.06.17 

Ariranga G Pillay, G.O.S.K 15 15th July 2013 Rs 2,153,554 

Rodney Rama 3 5th June 2009 
(Terminated on 15th April 2016) 

Rs 166,250 

Reshad Sadool 3 5th June 2009 
(Terminated on 15th April 2016) 

Rs 166,250 

Selvam Poonoosamy 3 5th June 2009 
(Terminated on 15th April 2016)  

Rs 166,250 

Alberto Mariette 17 15th April 2016 Rs 1,144,000 

Candhayalallsing Seebaluck 17 15th April 2016 Rs 859,931 

Mariam Rajabally 16 15th April 2016 Rs 859,931 

Vedwantee Bikhoo 18 15th April 2016 Rs 867,949 

Table I: Commission Meetings for the 18-months period ending 30 June 2017 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (Contd.) 

Audit Committee 

Major decisions in relation to matters linked to 

Finance, Procurement, Human Resources, and 

Corporate Governance are dealt with directly at the 

level of the Commission. In delivering its duties, the 

Commission is also assisted by the Audit Committee, 

chaired by Mr. Reshad Sadool and Mr. Rodney Rama 

as a Committee member up to 14th April 2016 and 

Chaired by Mrs. Mariam Rajabally and Mr. Alberto 

Mariette as the Committee member as from 15th April 

2016 

The core duties of the Audit Committee are to 

oversee the overall standard and quality of financial 

reporting and internal control system to mitigate 

risks, and to implement, where applicable, the 

recommendations and proposals of external auditors 

with respect to enhancement of the internal control 

system. During the 18-months period ending 30th 

June 2017, the Committee met on two occasions. 

 

External Auditing and Accounting 
The CCM ensures the preparation of the Annual 

Report, including the financial statements, for each 

calendar year. The current report covers an 18-

months period given the change in the reporting date 

from 31st December to 30th June. The Annual Report 

is then submitted to the National Audit Office, which 

audits the financial statements and submits its Audit 

report to the Commission. In its report, the auditors 

give their opinion on the financial statements, but 

also on whether the CCM has complied with 

necessary legislation such as the Statutory Bodies 

(Accounts and Audit) Act and the Public Procurement 

Act. 

The Commission, under the scrutiny of the Audit 

Committee, has always promptly addressed the 

recommendations of the external auditors. 

Upon receipt of the Annual Report including the 

audited financial statements and the Audit Report, 

the Commission submits the documents to the 

National Assembly through its responsible Minister. 

 

Related Party Transactions 
During 18-months period ending 30th June 2017, 

there have been no related party transactions 

involving any member of the CCM. 
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COMPETITION COMMISISON – ANNUAL REPORT 2016/2017                                                                                                                        14 
 

 

 

OPERATIONAL REVIEW 

The Executive Director of the CCM is mandated and 

empowered under the Act to investigate restrictive 

business practices set out under Part III of the Act. 

Part III of the Act caters for four main types of 

anticompetitive practices: collusive agreements 

(which are prohibited), other restrictive agreements, 

abuse of monopoly situations and mergers that result 

in the substantial lessening of competition. 

Where the Executive Director receives a complaint or 

otherwise becomes aware that a restrictive business 

practice has occurred, is occurring, or is about to 

occur, the Executive Director may investigate the 

matter. As provided under the CCM Rules of 

Procedure 2009 and in order to make an effective and 

judicious use of available resources, investigations are 

normally preceded by enquiries. As opposed to 

investigations, enquiries are not published on the 

CCM’s website. They involve mainly information 

gathering which enables the Executive Director to 

assess whether there are reasonable grounds to 

believe that a restrictive business practice has  

occurred, is occurring or is about to occur, thus 

warranting the initiation of an investigation. 

 

 

 

 

ENQUIRIES 
From January 2016 to June 2017, 62 issues were 

reported to the CCM. Following a screening process, 

27 issues were referred for enquiry. This figure, added 

to the 16 ongoing enquiries at the beginning of the 

period under review, brought the total number of 

enquiries handled by the CCM during this period to 

43. The issues were related to various sectors of the 

economy, including Media & Information and 

Communications Technologies, Food & Beverages, 

Insurance, Banking & Finance, and Construction & 

Property Development. Out of these 43 enquiries, 17 

were closed due to the absence of reasonable 

grounds to believe in a likely instance of restrictive 

business practice. Three enquiries proceeded to 

investigation. 

Table 1 below presents the figures, which pertain to 

enquiries administered during January 2016 to June 

2017, providing a breakdown in terms of the different 

provisions of the law under which they were assessed. 

 

 

     Table 1: Enquiry review for year 2016 – June 2017 

 

 ABUSE OF 
MONOPOLY 

MERGER 
REVIEW 

CARTEL MARKET 
REVIEWS 

Total 

Ongoing enquiries 1st January 2016 5 4 5 2 16 

New enquiries launched during 2016/17 14 4 5 4 27 

Enquiries recommending investigation 1 1 3 - 5 

Enquiries with no reasonable grounds to 
further pursue the matter  

6 8 0 3 17 

Ongoing enquiries through 30th June 2017 10 1 5 5 21 
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW (Contd.) 

Table 2 below provides an overview of the enquiries 

completed between 2016 and June 2017 (with the 

exception of those conducted in relation to cartel 

and/ or held confidential) and which were closed 

with no further action. 

SECTOR ENQUIRY 
REF 

RESTRICTIVE 
BUSINESS 
PRACTICE 

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT 

Tyre 
industry 

ENQ 
157 

Abuse of 
monopoly 
situation 

The allegation was that a 
company was selling tyres to 
retailers and end-customers at 
cost price (predatory pricing) 
and could be price 
discriminating by selling the 
same tyres at one price to its 
associated company and 
another price to other 
customers. 

Pricing information submitted by the 
party and analysis conducted by the 
CCM did not support the allegation 
that the party had price discriminated 
between its related company and 
other customers.   
Assuming that the party had engaged 
in predatory pricing, the number of 
competitors on the market, the entry 
of new brands and the price sensitivity 
of consumers rendered it highly 
unlikely that it would have been able 
to successfully impose higher prices at 
a later stage. 

Media 
& ICT 

ENQ 
158 

Abuse of 
monopoly 
situation 

One pay-TV provider averred 
that a regional wholesale pay-
TV provider was engaging in 
predatory pricing. 

It was found that the rates which were 
being practiced did not satisfy the 
conditions for predation. In addition, 
it was found that even if predation 
was assumed, recoupment was 
unlikely due to reasonably permissible 
conditions of entry.  

Media 
& ICT 

ENQ 
159 

Abuse of 
monopoly 
situation 

The allegation was that 
exclusivity agreements 
between radio stations and a 
company dealing in dermo-
cosmetic products could have 
resulted in refusal to supply of 
radio advertising for 
competing suppliers of dermo-
cosmetics.  

The enquiry did not find evidence of 
exclusivity agreements between radio 
stations and the major distributor of 
dermo-cosmetic products.  Also, it 
was found that radio stations cannot 
advertise products from competitors 
in the same advertisement slot as they 
cannot make a comparison between 
competing products.  And, new 
advertisement slots/programs had 
been scheduled for broadcasting 
additional brands of dermo-
cosmetics.  

Healthcare ENQ 
160 

Merger 
Review 

Potential acquisition of a 
major private hospital by a 
consortium involving a direct 
competitor and an insurance 
company. 

The matter was closed following the 
announcement of the taking over of 
the private hospital by another 
business entity with no presence in 
the local healthcare sector. 
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW (Contd.) 

SECTOR ENQUIRY 
REF 

RESTRICTIVE 
BUSINESS 
PRACTICE 

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT 

Retail ENQ 
162 

Merger 
Review 

Acquisition of Iframac Retail, 
trading as Courts, by a 
consortium of persons. 

It was found that the acquisition 
would not lead to any competition 
concern as the acquirer neither 
competed with nor operated in 
related markets as the company 
being acquired.  Thus, the transaction 
would not lead to any change in the 
market structure. 

Logistics ENQ 
170 

Merger 
Review 

Review of the international 
merger between two express 
courier delivery services 

It was found that both express 
courier services were active in 
Mauritius through their 
representatives in Mauritius. 
However, the transaction was 
unlikely to qualify as a reviewable 
merger situation within the meaning 
of the Act.  

Automotive ENQ 
161 

Merger 
Review 

Iframac Ltd (Transportation 
business), one of the related 
companies of BAI Co. 
(Mauritius) Ltd went into 
special administration in April 
2015. In September 2015, it 
was reported that 3 local 
vehicle dealerships (a car 
dealership is a business that 
sells new or second-hand cars 
at the retail level based on a 
distributorship contract with 
an automaker or its sales 
subsidiary) had acquired the 
distributorships previously 
represented by Iframac Ltd in 
Mauritius. 

An enquiry was launched by the 
Executive Director of the CCM to 
assess whether the acquisition of the 
distributorships and could be 
reviewed as a merger situation 
resulting in substantial lessening of 
competition.  
Following a legal assessment into 
whether the transfer of assets 
between enterprises can reside in 
section 47 of the Act, it was concluded 
that the Transaction did not give rise 
to any merger situation as defined 
under the Act. 

Construction ENQ 
163 

Abuse of 
monopoly 
situation 

 

The enquiry followed a 
complaint to the effect that a 
certain enterprise may be 
foreclosing access to the 
cement market by engaging in 
legal/regulatory challenges in 
relation to a potential new 
entrant; and a particular 
institution may be foreclosing 
access to the cement market 
by refusing or delaying a 
potential entrant’s access to 
the market. 

Following assessment, it was 
concluded that –  

(i) the first allegation did not fall 
under the purview of the CCM, 
absent evidence showing 
anticompetitive object; and  

(ii) the second allegation did not stand 
in light of evidence adduced by the 
institution. 
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SECTOR ENQUIRY 
REF 

RESTRICTIVE 
BUSINESS 
PRACTICE 

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT 

Media & ICT ENQ 
166 

Merger 
Review 

Potential merger situation 
arising from the creation of a 
new printing company by two 
newspaper companies for the 
purpose of mutualising their 
printing facilities. 

There was likely to be a merger 
situation. However, no substantial 
lessening of competition was believed 
to result from this merger situation.  
The matter was therefore closed. 

Agro 
Industry 

ENQ 
167 

Merger 
Review 

Potential merger situation 
arising from the proposal to set 
up a joint distribution 
company by two companies 
involved in the manufacturing 
and supply of fertilizers. 

The enquiry did not find reasonable 
grounds to pursue the matter under 
the merger review provisions of the 
Act. 

Confidential ENQ 
168 

Cartel Alleged excessive pricing and 
collusion in a certain market.  

Concerning the first alleged conduct, 
there were no sufficient information 
to believe that there can be excessive 
pricing. Regarding the second issue, 
there was reasonable grounds to 
believe that the operators in the 
sector concerned, through their 
association may have fixed the price 
or supply of various 
products/services. An investigation 
into the matter was launched.    

Financial 
services 

ENQ 
169 

Advice A potential entrant into the 
market for foreign exchange 
dealership was refused his 
license for operating in the 
market by the licensing 
body/authority. 

Following consultation with the said 
licensing body, it was understood that 
the underlying rationale of the policy 
was to curb money laundering and 
strengthen the stability of the 
financial sector. The CCM also 
gathered that there was a significant 
number of players on the market. 
New entry in the market could occur 
through banks which are already 
licensed.  
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SECTOR ENQUIRY 
REF 

RESTRICTIVE 
BUSINESS 
PRACTICE 

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT 

Financial 
Services        

Non- 
Banking 

ENQ 
171 

Monopoly 
abuse 

 

It was alleged that Cim Finance 
Ltd had increased its merchant 
discount rates and was 
charging smaller merchants, 
fees (known as merchant 
discount) significantly higher 
than that charged to larger 
ones. 

The enquiry progressed to an 
investigation because there were 
reasonable ground to believe that: 

 CIM Finance Ltd held 30% or more 
in the market for the supply of hire 
purchase facilities; and 

 The practice of charging differing 
merchant discounts to different 
merchants may constitute an abuse 
of that monopoly situation to the 
detriment of competition in 
markets where higher purchase 
was used. 

Retail & 
Distribution 

ENQ 
172 

Vertical 
Agreement 

A local distribution applied for 
an interim order under section 
62 of the Competition Act.  It 
claimed that an international 
supplier with whom it had a 
distribution agreement for a 
long time had decided to 
appoint new local distributor.  
The latter is already a major 
player in the market. 

The enquiry did not find reasonable 
grounds to believe that a potential 
breach of the Competition Act is 
occurring. Consequently, the matter 
was closed and the application for 
interim measures was not entertained 
because this is possible only within the 
process of an investigation under 
section 51. 

Other 
(Courier 
services) 

ENQ 
174 

Abuse of 

monopoly 

 

Predatory pricing by one 
operator in relation to the 
business of import courier 
service. 

The enquiry found that the element of 
predatory pricing which is selling 
below average variable cost was not 
present. The matter was closed with 
no further actions. 

Construction ENQ 
175 

Advice to 
Minister 

Government’s decision to ban 
the export of scrap metal. 

The ban on export of scrap metal was 
likely to affect the conditions of 
competition and eventually the 
competitiveness of the scrap metal 
industry. The recommendation was 
that the ban should be lifted. 

Multiple 
sectors 

ENQ 
176 

Merger Press communique by GML 
Investissement Ltée (GMLI) 
and Ireland Blyth Limited (IBL) 
and a cautionary notice issued 
by IBL on the amalgamation of 
both companies. The enquiry 
sought to determine whether 
there are reasonable grounds 
to believe that a merger 
situation reviewable under 
sections 47 and 48 of the Act, 
involving GML and IBL has 
occurred or is about to occur. 

It was found that the amalgamation of 
IBL and GMLI would not qualify as a 
reviewable merger situation within 
the meaning of the Act and therefore 
the matter was closed with no further 
action. 
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SECTOR ENQUIRY 
REF 

RESTRICTIVE 
BUSINESS 
PRACTICE 

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT 

Financial 
Services 

ENQ 
178 

Merger 
Review 

A preliminary assessment in 
the form of an enquiry was 
launched into a joint 
application for guidance of the 
CCM, under Section 47 of the 
Competition Act 2007, into the 
proposed acquisition of shares 
representing 51% of the issued 
shares, on a fully diluted basis, 
of Medscheme (Mtius) Ltd  by  
Swan General Ltd. 

The enquiry progressed to a detailed 
assessment because there were 
reasonable grounds to believe that 
the transaction could be reviewed 
under the merger review provisions of 
the law.  
The transaction was likely to affect 
competition in various markets in 
Mauritius namely, market for third 
party administration of health 
insurance plans in Mauritius, market 
for the supply of health insurance in 
Mauritius, and the acquisition of 
health services in Mauritius. The 
enquiry progressed to formal review. 

Retail 
& 

Distribution 

ENQ 
179 

Abuse of 
monopoly 

exclusionary 
Conduct 

Abuse by  an integrated  
manufacturer and supplier of 
corrugated carton sheets and 
carton boxes in the form of: 
- refusal to supply corrugated 
carton sheets to a  
downstream competitor for 
the supply of carton boxes; and 
 - predatory pricing (i.e pricing 
below costs) to foreclose the 
downstream competitor. 

No element to substantiate refusal to 
supply or predatory pricing. The 
enquiry was closed. 

Financial ENQ 
184 

Merger 
Review 

In November 2016, Axys group 
informed the CCM of their 
intention to acquire 100% of 
the equity of Frontiere 
Finance Ltd and Frontiere 
Finance Holdings Ltd. 

It was found that the transaction may 
give rise to a merger situation but it 
was unlikely to be reviewable as the 
market share thresholds were not 
met. There was no reasonable 
grounds to believe that the 
transaction will lead to substantial 
lessening of competition in the global 
business market. 

Healthcare ENQ 
185 

Merger 
Review 

Proposed acquisition of a 
major private hospital by 
another major player in the 
provision of private 
healthcare. 

It was found that the private hospital 
acquired could potentially qualify as a 
‘failing firm’ and its closure would not 
have resulted in a more competitive 
outcome than it being acquired by the 
competitor. 
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INVESTIGATIONS 

A core function of the CCM is the enforcement of 

the Act through investigations and subsequent 

reporting by the office of the Executive Director. 

Upon completion of investigations, the Executive 

Director submits his findings (through Reports of 

investigations), pursuant to section 51(2) of the 

Act, to the Commissioners.  Thereupon, directions 

or penalties aimed at deterring and remedying 

anti-competitive practices are determined in 

reasoned decisions of the Commission and 

consequently enforced.  

Section 35(2) of the Act provides that the Annual 

Report of the CCM shall, as far as possible, give an 

account of the investigations that were carried out 

and their outcome as well as any decision of the 

Commission in respect of completed 

investigations. 

Between January 2016 and June 2017, the 

Executive Director initiated 5 new and completed 

6 investigations. As at the end of the 18 months, 

there were 9 ongoing investigations and 2 ongoing 

market studies1.  

 

CCM Investigation into payment cards 

(INV020) 
The investigation into payment cards (INV020), 

launched in May 2012, concerns the set of 

agreements that Visa and MasterCard have 

respectively concluded with 13 local banking/non-

banking financial institutions participating in the 

Visa and MasterCard respective payment 

networks.  The investigation is premised on section 

45 of the Act which allows the Commission to 

review vertical agreements in which at least one 

party is in a reviewable monopoly situation.  The 

CCM has in particular investigated the level of 

issuer interchange fees (IIF) set by Visa and 

MasterCard under their respective agreements for 

                                                           
1 Pursuant to section 30(h) of the Act, the Executive 
Director may "undertake general studies on the 

point-of-sale (POS) transactions effected in 

Mauritius using locally-issued classic debit and 

credit cards carrying the Visa and MasterCard 

brands.     

Visa and MasterCard respectively own four-party 

payment card networks and license the use of their 

network to financial banks/institutions (which are 

members of their network) to enable card 

transactions to be processed.  Under the four-party 

payment system, merchants who accept payment 

by cards have to pay a commission to banks or 

financial institutions which provide them with the 

card acceptance service. This amount, known as 

the Merchant Service Commission (‘MSC’), is 

normally set as a percentage of the transaction 

value. In Mauritius, the MSC paid by merchants, 

other than petrol stations, ranges between 1% and 

3%. Out of the MSC, merchant banks or financial 

institutions have to pay a fee to the bank or 

financial institution which have issued the cards 

(card issuer). This fee paid to the card issuer is 

known as the IIF and Visa and MasterCard 

respectively set the level of IIF for locally issued 

cards by virtue of their operating rules and 

procedures. Currently, the IIF is set at around 1% 

for domestic POS transactions on the majority of 

locally issued classic Visa and MasterCard cards. 

The CCM’s investigation has found that the current 

level of IIF for local POS transactions constitute a 

major component of the MSC, which in turn 

inflates the base on which merchant-banks set the 

MSC and is preventing, restricting or distorting 

competition in the market for card-acceptance 

facilities. This is because some banks have both a 

large pool of cardholders and card-accepting 

merchants. Because of their larger cardholder 

base, the majority of card transactions processed 

at their local POS terminals are effected using cards  

 

effectiveness of competition in individual sectors of the 
economy of Mauritius”. 
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issued by them. They are thus, in a position to offer 

better MSC rates than small merchant-banks as 

they recoup a significant proportion of the IIF paid 

from their card acquiring business through their 

issuing business. This, in turn, may be limiting the 

ability of small players to offer competitive MSC 

rates and compete more effectively.   

After an extensive information gathering and 

engagement process with parties and 

stakeholders, the Executive Director produced the 

Final Report of the investigation on 12th December 

2016.  In light of the information gathered and 

assessment carried out, the Executive Director has 

recommended that the IIF be lowered along with a 

series of informational remedies, which he 

believes are necessary, reasonable and 

practicable, to address the competition concerns 

identified in the payment cards market.  The 

matter is presently before the Commissioners and 

it is up to the Commissioners to determine 

whether a restrictive business practice is occurring 

or has occurred and to impose any remedy they 

think fit to address the competition concerns 

identified.    

 

Investigation into an alleged horizontal 

collusive agreement in the Chicken market 

(INV021)  
On 19th May 2017, the Commissioners delivered 

their decision into the investigation of a potential 

horizontal collusive agreements (cartel) that may 

exist among Innodis Ltd, Panagora Marketing Co 

Ltd and Avipro Ltd to fix the price or quantity of 

chicken in Mauritius (INV021).  The Commissioners 

concluded, in light of the  Report of the Executive 

Director, that none of Avipro Co Ltd, Panagora 

Marketing Co Ltd and Innodis Ltd can be said to 

have breached the provisions of Section 41 of the 

Act in relation to the agreements investigated, 

thus concurring with the recommendations of the 

Executive Director.During the investigation, the 

Executive Director assessed three forms of 

potential collusive agreements, namely:  

a) potential agreement to increase price of 

chilled chicken relative to price of frozen 

chicken 

 

b) potential agreement on price parallelism; 

and  

c) information exchange and facilitating 

practices. 

During the investigation, it was found that there 

were evidences of contacts and communication 

between the parties, which occurred prior to the 

coming into force of the Act, in relation to setting 

of price, and conduct in relation to supply of 

chicken. However, given that the Act was not in 

force at that time, such conduct was not illegal. 

The Executive Director was nonetheless 

concerned that the various discussions on price 

and conduct in relation to supply of chicken which 

took place prior to the Act coming into force may 

have continued to have an effect on the market, 

in which circumstance, there would have been 

need for the CCM to intervene.  

However, following an in-depth assessment, it 

was found that the evidence at hand did not 

suffice to establish the existence of a collusive 

agreement. Thus, the Executive Director was of 

the view that there was no evidence of a breach 

of Section 41 of the Act, which view was accepted 

by the Commissioners. 

 

CCM Investigation into pricing of mobile 

telephony (INV034)                                              

In August 2015, ‘INV034 Pricing of mobile 

telephony services,’ was opened on the initiative 

of the Executive Director into a monopoly situation 

which he had reasonable grounds to believe to be 

reviewable under s. 46 of the Act. The investigation 

had been preceded, by an enquiry under r. 5 of the 

Competition Commission Rules of Procedure 2009 

and pursuant to the provisions of the 

Memorandum of Understanding between the CCM   
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and the ICTA2, pre-investigation consultations 

between the institutions were conducted. 

Upon initiation of the investigation, the Executive 

Director explained that he was concerned with the 

alleged price discrimination between voice calls 

exchanged between customers subscribed with 

the same mobile telephony operator (“on-net” 

calls) and between subscribers of rival operators 

(“off-net” calls). Mobile operators in Mauritius 

distinguish between on-net and off-net mobile 

voice calls in terms of tariffs. An on-net call is one 

placed by a subscriber of operator A to another 

subscriber of the same operator. An off-net call is 

placed by a subscriber of operator A to a subscriber 

of operator B. An on-net call can therefore be 

described as a call which originates and terminates 

within the same Public Land Mobile Network 

(“PLMN”) and an off-net call is one which 

originates from the PLMN of one operator and 

terminates on the PLMN of another.  

The Executive Director had enquired and found 

that the main parties to the investigation 

discriminate between the prices or traffic 

allowance between on-net and off-net calls for 

part of their commercial offers. The Executive 

Director was concerned that this pricing behaviour 

could constitute an abuse of a monopoly situation 

in breach of s. 46 of the Act. 

On 19th February 2016, having completed the 

initial information gathering stage of the 

investigation, the Executive Director 

communicated his ‘Statement of issues3’ to parties 

to the proceedings, namely Emtel Ltd, Cellplus 

Mobile Communications Ltd and Mahanagar 

Telephone Mauritius Ltd. In the document, the 

Executive Director laid down the anticipated scope 

of the investigation and identified the issues upon  

 

                                                           
2 A copy of the Memorandum of Understanding 
between the “ICTA” and the CCM is available at: 
http://www.ccm.mu/English/Documents/Legislations/
mouICTA.pdf 

which subsequent analysis would proceed. The 

replies of the parties were duly considered by the 

Executive Director who continued the 

investigation. 

On 14th November 2016, the Executive Director 

notified his provisional findings by way of a 

provisional report. Remedies proposed to be 

recommended to the Commission were also 

notified in the same report. Parties were invited to 

provide reasons as to why such provisional findings 

should not become final and to submit any views 

or comments which they had with respect to the 

proposed remedies. Emtel Ltd, Cellplus Mobile 

Communications Ltd and the ICTA provided 

written submissions. After reviewing the 

submissions, the Executive Director decided to 

complete his investigation of the subject matter 

and proceeded to make the report final. The report 

was submitted to the Commission with his 

recommendations in accordance with s. 51(2) of 

the Act. The report aims to assist the Commission 

in determining whether restrictive business 

practice(s) are occurring or have occurred in 

pursuance of s. 5(b) of the Act. The report also 

proposes remedies which the Commission may 

think fit to impose in response to any anti-

competitive practices which they may identify. 

 

Investigation into hire purchase services 

supplied by Cim Finance Ltd (INV035) 
The investigation was launched by the Executive 

Director following several complaints made by 

merchants and a Consumer Protection 

Organisation in relation to alleged increases in the 

merchant discount charged by Cim Finance Ltd and 

that alleged discriminatory merchant discounts 

being charged by the latter to merchants. The  

 

3 One of the major stages of an investigation referred 
to under r 9 of the Procedural rules. 

http://www.ccm.mu/English/Documents/Legislations/mouICTA.pdf
http://www.ccm.mu/English/Documents/Legislations/mouICTA.pdf
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investigation was in relation to the monopoly 

provisions of the Act, to assess whether Cim 

Finance Ltd was engaging in the alleged conducts 

and whether these could significantly prevent, 

restrict or distort competition or amount to an 

exploitation of the monopoly situation. Cim 

Finance Ltd offers, via merchants, hire purchase 

facilities to end consumers for which it currently 

charges an interest rate (the maximum Annual 

Percentage Rate of this interest is capped at 12%). 

Cim Finance Ltd also charges a fee, known as a 

‘merchant discount’, to merchants providing its 

hire purchase facilities. Several merchants were, 

directly or indirectly, passing the merchant 

discount fee to consumers.   

The concerns of the Executive Director were that 

the conduct of Cim Finance Ltd to charge 

significantly different merchant discounts to 

different merchants may prevent, restrict or 

distort competition in the downstream markets in 

which hire purchase facility is used, or may 

constitute an exploitation of a monopoly situation. 

Cim Finance Ltd offered undertakings to the CCM 

during the investigation under section 63 of the Act 

to address the competition concerns of the 

investigation. Among others it has undertaken: 

 to change its mechanism used to determine 

and charge merchant fee to merchants such 

that, inter alia, the merchant fee charged to 

small and medium merchants be reduced and 

be limited to a maximum rate [figure 

confidential but below 8%] of the cash price; 

 to reduce and limit the difference in merchant 
discount rates charged to merchants to a 
proposed maximum difference [figure 
confidential]; and  

 that the difference in merchant discount will 
be mostly linked to volume of sales. 

The Executive Director found that the new pricing 

mechanism proposed by Cim Finance Ltd, further 

to its undertakings, was not discriminatory and 

that any remaining difference in the merchant fee 

was based on cost differences to supply different 

merchants. Therefore, the very conduct of concern 

would be eliminated by the undertaking. As such, 

the Executive Director concluded that the 

undertakings would indeed satisfactorily address 

the concerns of the CCM and consequently 

recommended that the Commission accept the 

undertakings.  

In its decision delivered on 16th May 2017, the 

Commission accepted the undertakings offered by 

Cim Finance Ltd to address the competition 

concerns which were the subject of the 

investigation. Cim Finance Ltd has up to 16 

November 2017 to implement the undertakings.   

 

Assessment of the proposed acquisition of 

51% of the issued shares of Medscheme 

(Mtius) Ltd by Swan General Ltd – INV036 

Medscheme (Mtius) Ltd (Medscheme) and Swan 

General Ltd (Swan) made a joint application for the 

guidance to the CCM in relation to a proposed 

acquisition by Swan of 51% shares in Medscheme. 

Following an enquiry into the matter, the Executive 

Director was not able to conclude that the 

transaction will not impede competition and 

therefore decided to open an in-depth review of 

the proposed acquisition to determine whether it 

can substantially lessen competition.  

Following a preliminary review, the Executive 

Director issued his Statement of Issues Report, 

which included the preliminary concerns of the 

Executive Director to the parties. The Executive 

Director expressed that the transaction may raise 

certain competition concerns in relation to various 

markets. The Executive Director, thereafter, 

continued his information gathering and 

assessment. However, during the course of the 

investigation, the parties informed the CCM that 

they no longer intend to pursue the transaction.  

Therefore, the very merger situation that was 

being reviewed ceased to exist and there was no 

need for the CCM to provide any guidance. As such, 

the investigation was discontinued with no further 

action. 
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Advocacy to Trade & Professional 

Associations (Feb-Aug 2016) 

Beginning February 2016, the CCM has embarked 

on a series of monthly workshops aimed at Trade 

& Professional Associations (TPAs) and major 

operators across various economic sectors.  Trade 

Associations perform many legitimate activities 

and serve as forums for discussing issues of 

common interest for the industry/sector which 

they represent.  However, some discussions, 

decisions, or recommendations of TPAs may 

intentionally or inadvertently breach the 

provisions of the Competition Act, engaging the 

liability of both TPAs and their members.   

Combining competition law theory with industry-

specific hypothetical scenarios, the half-day TPA-

dedicated Workshops focused on drawing 

participants’ attention to the relevance of the 

Competition Act to certain practices/agreements 

of trade associations and their members while 

enumerating simple yet useful safeguards which 

may be placed during a trade association 

meeting/discussion for ensuring compliance with 

the Competition Act. The participants reviewed the 

hypothetical Agenda of a Trade Association 

Meeting, analysed discussions exchanged during 

the live demo of a fictitious case and interacted 

with the presenters to share and discuss their 

views. This advocacy programme reached around 

100 participants from more than 20 trade 

associations in the tourism, construction, food 

retailing, IT, agro-industry, healthcare, media and 

communications as well as the financial services 

sectors.  

 

Guide to Competition Law (Jun 2016) 

 

On 28th June 2016, the CCM and the MCCI, 

partnering together, reached out to the business 

leaders to discuss the latest competition issues 

facing them in a rapidly changing and regionalised 

business environment while reviewing the 

importance, benefits and best practices of 

competition compliance. 

Keynote speakers included Mr George Lipimile and 

Ms Marika Harjula, Senior Associate, White & Case 

(Brussels Office), who both brought years of 

expertise to the table. The event also served as a 

unique opportunity to launch the CCM’S Short 

Guide to Competition Law. The guide aimed to 

provide easily accessible and concise information 

to businesses about the relevance of competition 

law in their day-to-day business activities. 
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ACF Biennial meeting (Oct 2016) 
 

The CCM, as Co-Chair of the African Competition 

Forum (ACF), hosted the ACF Biennial meeting on 

12th and 13th October 2016 at the Labourdonnais 

Waterfront Hotel, Port Louis. 

The ACF Biennial meeting was preceded by a half-

day capacity building workshop which brought to 

the fore key issues affecting the day-to-day 

enforcement activities of competition agencies. 

The purpose was to assist participants to discuss 

and share practical experiences on improving 

agency effectiveness: firstly, the means and 

resources available for implementing effective 

case management systems and secondly, 

embedding a competition culture among ACF 

Member agencies.  In addition to reporting on key 

ACF activities and proceeding with the election of 

a new Steering Committee, the ACF Biennial 

meeting also saw the years of bilateral relations 

and informal agency assistance between the CCM 

and the Competition Commission of South Africa 

(CCSA) culminating into the signing of a 

Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), thereby 

deepening the ties and formalising avenues of 

cooperation between the two agencies.  The MOU 

was signed in the presence of the Permanent 

Secretary of the Ministry of Financial Services, 

Good Governance and Institutional Reforms, Mr 

J.D. Phokeer.           

The resource persons for the workshop included 

Professor Hassan Qaqaya, Senior Fellow, 

Competition and Consumer Program, Melbourne 

Law School, and Former Head of the United 

Nations Program on Competition and Consumer 

Policies (UNCTAD), as well as representatives of 

competition agencies from Gabon, Kenya, Malawi, 

and Swaziland. 

Participants to the workshop included heads and 

other senior officials from national competition 

agencies in the pan-African region, representatives 

from ECOWAS as well as members of the Steering 

Committee of the ACF. 
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MoU with COMESA Competition Commission (Mar 2017) 
 

Cognizant of the long-term objectives of Mauritius 

to foster regional trade, the Competition 

Commission of Mauritius (CCM) signed a 

Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with the 

COMESA Competition Commission (CCC) on 24th 

March 2017. The signing ceremony was held at the 

Voila Hotel in Bagatelle, in presence of heads of 10 

African Competition Authorities. 

The Chairman of the CCM, Mr. Ariranga Pillay 

GOSK, addressing the audience on the occasion, 

stated that “cooperation is an important vehicle 

for agencies to share experience, promote sound 

policies, coordinate their activities, and continue 

to support compatible analysis and outcomes in 

cross-border investigations”. The vital place of 

cooperation between competition agencies, was 

also highlighted by Mr. Matthews Chikankheni, 

Chairperson of the CCC. The latter seized the 

opportunity to salute the spirit of collaboration 

which had prevailed between the CCC and the CCM 

since the inception of the former more than 3 

years ago. 

Prior to the signature of the MoU, the CCM had 

already cooperated with the CCC on 30 merger 

notification cases. The formalisation of the 

working arrangement between the institutions 

would entrench cooperation between the sister 

agencies. Of particular importance, the MoU puts 

in place the relevant safeguards in order to share 

case-related information without breaching rules 

of confidentiality. 

In his speech, the Honourable Dharmendar 

Sesungkur, Minister of Financial Services, Good 

Governance and Institutional Reforms, 

congratulated both institutions in taking a 

significant step forward in the direction of trade 

regionalisation and wished both sides much 

success. 
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Workshop for Media (Mar 2017) 
 

Bearing in mind that competition enforcement 

remains a relatively new regulatory parameter for 

most Mauritian individuals and enterprises, the 

CCM held a workshop for journalists and media 

professionals. The workshop aimed to foster media 

understanding and enable business reporters to 

attract fresh enthusiasm from their audience. 

 

The half-day working session provided an 

introduction to the value which competition law 

enforcement can hold for business reporters and 

their audience. Participants were exposed to 

selected competition cases that have made huge 

impact worldwide and a few cases from Mauritius. 

The emphasis was on how those cases have 

brought benefits to the consumers and thus 

provide interesting stories for coverage by the 

media.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RPM Amnesty Programme (Jun 2017) 
 

In June 2017, the CCM announced that it was 

embarking on a fight against resale price 

maintenance (RPM). RPM, also known as ‘Prix de 

vente imposé’, is an agreement between a supplier 

and a reseller(s) establishing a fixed or minimum 

resale price of a product or service, reducing the 

ability of the reseller to cut prices. This may in turn 

result in higher prices being paid by consumers, 

reduced competition among resellers, and make 

entry by new players difficult, to the detriment of 

consumers and the economy. 

The CCM recognised that there could be 

enterprises which may have engaged in such 

conduct but was not aware that they may be in 

breach of the Act. As such, the CCM gave 

enterprises a one-off and time-limited opportunity 

to report and amend their RPM agreement(s) and 

become compliant with the Act, and in turn the 

CCM would offer them immunity from financial 

penalties. This was made possible through an RPM 

Amnesty programme that was put in place and has 

been available since 5th June 2017, until 5th October 

2017.  In view of the growing number of queries 

that were still being received from enterprises 

considering applying for RPM Amnesty, the validity 

of the RPM Amnesty Programme was subsequently 

extended to 20th October 2017.   

After the expiry of the RPM Amnesty, the CCM has 

announced that it will be more stringent towards 

RPM both in terms of its detection and 

enforcement. 
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CAPACITY BUILDING 

As markets evolve and transactions become 

increasingly complex, it is important that the CCM 

proactively builds new capabilities to ensure that it 

remains useful and relevant to the economy.  The 

CCM considers it essential for management and 

staff to foster an organisational culture that 

encourages continuous learning and professional 

development and ensures high standards of 

service and knowledge. The CCM has made it a 

must to continue investing in its investigative 

personnel and strengthen its enforcement 

capabilities by sponsoring staff academic learning 

and seconding staff participation in training 

initiatives organized by foreign competition 

agencies and organisations. 

At the same time, the CCM has also actively 

participated in at least 4 capacity building 

initiatives for the benefit of neighbouring agencies 

in the process of establishing their enforcement 

structures.  By extending such training assistance 

to competition authorities in the region, the CCM 

is also playing a key part in developing rapport with 

its peers and facilitating regional cooperation in 

the competition law field. 

 

Sponsorship of Post Graduate Diploma in 

Competition Law and Economics 

Since its inception, the investigative personnel has 

been consistently encouraged to upgrade their 

knowledge and knowhow in the field of 

competition. As an incentive, the CCM sponsors 

staff enrolling for Post Graduate Diploma Courses 

in Competition Law and Economics. During the 

period under review, the CCM sponsored two 

Investigation Officers, who undertook the 

Postgraduate Diplomas in Competition Law 

proposed by King's College in the UK. 

 

                                                                              

 

Training Course on Investigation on Bid 

Rigging in Public Procurement (Feb 2016) 

The Competition Authority of Kenya in 

collaboration with the Japan Fair Trading 

Commission organised a two-day training 

workshop on 16th and 17th February 2017 for the 

benefit of competition agency officials in the 

region.  The CCM was represented by an 

Investigation Officer, who benefitted from in-

depth discussions and experience sharing on 

practical issues relating to the interface between 

competition law and bid rigging.  The training in 

particular, focused on the promotion of 

competition policy in the public sector, planning of 

dawn raids and interview techniques in suspected 

bid rigging investigations. The participants were 

also apprised of emerging issues in competition 

enforcement, notably, the nexus between 

competition policy and intellectual property rights.  

 

African Competition Forum Feedback 

Workshop on Sector Research (Apr 2016 & 

Feb 2017) 

In April 2016, the CCM was invited to attend a 

research skills workshop organised by the African 

Competition Forum (ACF) in Pretoria, South Africa 

in preparation for the ACF’s cross-country research 

studies project, which aims to evaluate the 

competitiveness of specific economic sectors of 

the participating member agencies.  The workshop 

was hosted by the Competition Commission of 

South Africa (CCSA) as Chair of the ACF Steering 

Committee.  One Investigation Officer from the 

CCM participated in the workshop.  

During the workshop, participants agreed on 5 

sectors to be covered in the cross-country studies 

– ‘construction’, ‘LPG’, ‘pharmaceutical and 

healthcare’, ‘fertilizer’, and ‘ICT and 

telecommunications’. The session also discussed 

the research methodology to be adopted and 

assigned respective teams for working on each 

sector.  



 
 

 

 

 

CAPACITY BUILDING (Contd.)   

On the 8th and 9th of February 2017, the ACF 

organised a subsequent feedback session on the 

sector research studies being conducted by 

member agencies in Pretoria, South Africa.  The 

CCM, which is undertaking a market study into the 

construction sector within the context of the ACF 

cross-country research studies, participated in this 

feedback session.  The Head of Investigations who 

is overseeing the construction market study, 

participated in the forum.  

The feedback session provided a formal platform 

for member agencies to receive detailed 

comments from the research group. In addition, 

experiences from other member agencies in the 

respective sectors were shared to assist in probing 

relevant competition issues for a more effective 

evaluation of the sectors.  

 

 

Regional Workshop ‘Training-the-

Trainers’: Planning and Conducting 

Competition Investigations (Jun 2016) 
 

Between 06th and 09th June 2016, two of the CCM’s 

enforcement personnel were invited to attend the 

biennial regional training workshop run jointly by 

the CCSA, the U.S. Federal Trade Commission (US 

FTC) and the U.S. Department of Justice (US DOJ) 

and funded by the United States Agency for 

International Development.  Hosted by the CCSA, 

the workshop gathered some 30 enforcers hailing 

from different competition agencies in the African 

region and who got the opportunity of receiving 

training from and interacting with expert enforcers 

from the US FTC, US DOJ and the CCSA. 

Combining a series of presentations, discussions, 

and learning-by-doing exercises within the context 

of a hypothetical merger case study, the workshop 

aimed to assist participants in understanding the 

practical skills and developing the techniques 

required for the proper planning and conduct of a 

competition investigation from receipt of the initial 

complaint through developing a remedy.  By the 

end of the workshop, participants were expected  

 

 

 

to step in as trainers and bring the workshop home 

to train other staff members at their agencies. 

 

CCSA extends its collaboration to CCM in 

anti-cartel enforcement 
 

The CCM invited Mr Makgale Mohlala, Manager, 

Cartel Enforcement Division of the Competition 

Commission of South Africa (‘CCSA’) on 13th and 

14th April 2016 to share his experience on anti- 

cartel enforcement and to provide training to the 

CCM’s enforcement personnel on Search and 

Seizure exercises. Mr Mohlala provided valuable 

insights about the various functions of the Cartel 

Division of the CCSA, how the CCSA developed its 

expertise in Cartel investigations and ways 

adopted by its department to deal with upfront 

challenges throughout the way. Mr. Mohlala also 

trained the staff on how to effectively carry out 

Search and Seizure exercises. He elaborated on 

standard procedures that the CCM may adopt and 

expanded on how to tackle arising issues during a 

Search and Seizure exercise.  Important 

considerations were given to how digital search 

operations are conducted. Mr Mohlala also 

touched on Cartel detection exercises, such as 

scoping and particularised how the adoption of a 

leniency program can effectively assist a 

Competition Agency in Cartel detection.  

 

COMESA Competition Commission - CCM 

collaboration for Madagascar Competition 

Council 

As part of its capacity building exercise to assist 

Member States in the implementation and 

enforcement of competition and consumer 

protection law and policy, the COMESA 

Competition Commission (CCC) facilitated two 

study tours for the Madagascar Competition 

Council’s members and staff to Mauritius in 

September 2016 and February 2017 respectively.  

As host to the Malagasy delegates, the CCM 

engaged closely with the CCC in developing a  

 



 
 

 

 

 

CAPACITY BUILDING (Contd.)   

comprehensive training agenda aimed at 

familiarizing the participants with the institutional 

structure and operating procedures of the CCM. 

The Malagasy delegates had the opportunity to 

provide an overview of the applicable competition 

regime in their jurisdiction.  The CCM’s personnel 

delivered several sessions on the functional 

aspects of CCM’s administration of competition 

law in Mauritius on the one hand and the 

substantive features of competition assessments 

under the law on the other hand.  

 

CCM acts as Trainer alongside US FTC and 

CCSA for ACF 

Building on its previous ‘Training the Trainers’ 

Regional Workshop, the ACF organised a capacity 

building workshop on merger review and analysis 

for competition agency staff members between 

20th and 22nd September 2016. Hosted by the CCSA 

in Pretoria, the workshop was facilitated by the 

U.S. FTC, with trainers drawn from the US FTC and 

past participants who were trained in ACF Training 

the Trainers’ Regional Workshop.  The CCM, 

alongside its colleagues from South Africa and 

Zambia, were nominated to serve as trainers for 

the ‘Merger review and analysis’ workshop.  The 

CCM’s interventions probed firstly, into the 

mechanism for developing an investigation plan 

and organising evidence gathered during the 

investigation and secondly, on practical tips for 

developing reliable evidence through the use of 

document requests.   

 

CCM provides technical assistance to the 

Ethiopian competition agency 

The CCM extended technical support to the Trade 

Competition and Consumer Protection Authority 

(TCCPA) in Ethiopia, in designing and delivering a 

two-day comprehensive training on competition 

policy and law enforcement.   The training 

programme took place in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia on 

03rd and 04th May 2017.  The CCM’s Head,  

 

 

 

Investigations acted as the resource person and 

trainer during the workshop.  

The training programme covered the various 

aspects of competition law enforcement:  abuse of 

dominance, collusive agreements and mergers.  

Insights were also shared on CCM’s experience in 

conducting market studies and advocating for 

competitive markets.  The training programme was 

the result of CCM’s active involvement at the level 

of the Advocacy & Implementation Network of the 

International Competition Network (AIN-ICN). The 

CCM responded positively to the request for 

technical assistance by the Ethiopian Competition 

Authority through the AIN-ICN, which at that time 

was led by the Japan Fair Trade Commission.   

The CCM favourably welcomed the numerous 

opportunities presented to it in sharing its 

enforcement experience and partaking in the 

development of its peers in the region.  Such 

collaborative initiatives not only help to promote 

the development of best enforcement practices in 

the region but also give due recognition to the 

experience and maturity of the CCM as an 

established competition authority with a proven 

track record in competition enforcement and 

advocacy.   
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STRATEGIC DIRECTIONS 

This document presents the medium-term 

strategic objectives and strategies of the 

Competition Commission (CCM), geared towards 

making markets in Mauritius more vibrant and 

dynamic, working for the benefit of consumers, 

businesses, and the economy. 

 

Enforcement Activity 

The primary role of the CCM is the enforcement of 

the Competition Act 2007 to promote competition 

in the interests of consumers, businesses and the 

Mauritian economy. Under the law, the CCM is 

provided with powers to investigate into restrictive 

business practices and investigative actions are the 

core activities of the CCM.  

The CCM will continue to enforce the Act 

rigorously while improving its enforcement 

efficacy over the long-term, yielding consumer 

benefits well in excess of the costs of the 

organisation, and it will continue to advise 

Government on competition matters to reinforce 

the pro-competitive environment and to create a 

more efficient economy. Investigations will be 

carried out indiscriminately into activities of all 

sectors of the economy where restrictive business 

practices exist. The CCM plans to launch and 

complete an average of 24 enquiries and 4 to 6 

investigations annually, and expects to review 

around 16 merger notifications by the COMESA 

Competition Commission.   

The CCM has also organised itself into three 

working groups, with each working group 

constituting a team focusing on specific types of 

conducts, namely cartels, abuse of dominance and 

merger control. The aim is to better build the 

technical capacity of CCM’s staff and to 

consequently harness such capacity in terms of 

delivery, by producing more in-depth analysis on 

the different restrictive business practices 

identified and by bringing better efficiency. 

 

 

 

 

As such, regarding monopoly situations, 

weaknesses in the investigative processes shall be 

identified and remedied. Market monitoring tools 

will be developed to further detect those 

restrictive business practices, while some 

amendments to the law will also be considered.   

In respect of merger control, Mauritius has a 

voluntary merger notification regime, and the CCM 

has noted that several mergers with a potential 

impact on competition are not notified to the CCM. 

As such, the CCM has developed strategies to, 

firstly, promote merger notification and, secondly, 

to increase its ability to detect mergers. The 

appropriateness of the current voluntary merger 

notification regime will also be assessed.  

A Procedural Handbook on Market Studies, which 

will detail out the different steps when 

undertaking market studies, will be developed, so 

that a standardised approach is used. It will be 

more advantageous as it will ensure that market 

studies are conducted in an efficient and 

transparent manner. 

 

Educating and Advocating Competition  

One of the mandates of the Executive Director 

under the Competition Act is to promote the 

provisions of the Act and the activities of the CCM. 

The CCM recognizes that advocacy is an important 

tool to inculcate a competition culture amongst 

businesses in Mauritius and therefore, since its 

inception, the CCM has endeavoured through 

various means to promote compliance to the law 

and to disseminate its work. These have ranged 

from targeted workshops to the use of mass 

media.  

CCM believes that its advocacy activities should be 

an ongoing exercise. Therefore, the CCM will 

develop yearly advocacy plans that will target all 

stakeholders, from large businesses to Small and 

Medium Enterprises (SMEs) and the public in 

general. Below is a list the advocacy initiatives in 

the pipeline for the years to come: 
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STRATEGIC DIRECTIONS (Contd.) 

 To reach out to the SMEs - despite 

considerable efforts having been made to 

raise awareness among big enterprises, a lot 

remains to be done for SMEs, which are quite 

vulnerable as they may suffer from anti-

competitive practices from more powerful 

businesses. Moreover, they could be a very 

important source for the generation of 

complaints, as they are more likely to witness 

those anti-competitive behaviours. As such, 

advocacy activities will be organised to reach 

out to SMEs. 

 An awareness campaign on merger control to 

boost applications for merger reviews by 

apprising the business community of the risks 

of not seeking the guidance of the CCM. 

 An awareness campaign targeting both 

businesses and consumers to raise awareness 

on competition concerns on the market for 

goods and services in Mauritius. 

 Joint PPO-CCM Guidance for procurers - the 

aim is to raise awareness of the risks and 

harm caused by collusion among bidders for 

public procurement. It is also intended to be 

a practical tool, providing practical tips and 

warning signs of collusion, to assist public 

procurers in the fight against bid rigging. An 

MOU with the CPB is also under 

consideration. 

 Advocacy on leniency with lawyers - Through 

experience, the CCM has seen that lawyers 

have played a major part in bringing their 

clients to take leniency. Therefore, lawyers 

conversant with Competition Law have to be 

apprised of the policy and the benefits that it 

may bring to enterprises. Workshops or one-

on-one advocacy programs with lawyers will 

be organized and pamphlets on the matter 

will be drawn up.  

 

 The CCM will issue its newsletter and 

increase its interaction on Facebook. issue A 

competition-related article shall also be 

issued in the local newspaper on a regular 

basis. 

 

International Cooperation  

As globalisation continues at an unprecedented 

rate, so does the need for international 

coordination and collaboration on enforcement of 

competition law. The need for such collaboration 

is accentuated for Mauritius given its relatively 

small economy.  

The Executive Director is entrusted, under section 

30 (i) of the Competition Act 2007, with the 

function of liaising and exchanging information, 

knowledge and expertise with competition 

authorities in other countries entrusted with 

functions similar to those of the CCM. In this 

regard, the CCM has endeavoured to sign MOUs 

with various competition authorities around the 

globe. So far, the CCM has signed MOUs with the 

Autorité de la concurrence of France, the 

Seychelles Fair Trading Commission, COMESA 

Competition Commission (CCC), the Southern 

African Development Community (SADC) and the 

Competition Commission of South Africa (CCSA). 

Through these bilateral agreements, the CCM will 

seek to:   

 exchange views and experience on 

competition policy issues; 

 expand expertise in the field of case 

investigations; 

 notify each other of enforcement matters of 

common interest; 

 exchange staff through secondments for the 

purpose of improving skills; etc. 
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The CCM will also seek to strengthen international 

relationships and its presence through more active 

roles in forums like the African Competition Forum 

(ACF), the COMESA Competition Commission, and 

the International Competition Network (ICN). 

 

Regulatory Framework Review 

The CCM has been enforcing the Competition Act 

since November 2009. With over more than eight 

years of competition enforcement, the CCM has 

been able to gauge the effectiveness of the 

provisions of the Competition Act and to identify 

its potential shortcomings and areas that need 

reinforcement. In an attempt to remedy those 

shortcomings and in order to be in line with 

international good practices and other regional 

commitments, the CCM will seek to undertake a 

thorough review of the Competition Act, its Rules 

of Procedure and various guidelines.  

Such review will be aimed at making the 

Competition Act more efficient and better 

equipped to tackle restrictive business practices 

for more efficient markets, to the ultimate benefit 

of consumers and the economy at large.  

The review will aim at aligning the Competition Act 

with international best practices with a focus to 

current provisions relating to Collusive 

Agreements, Mergers, Monopoly Situations and 

harmonization with the COMESA Competition 

Regulations, and specificities of small economies 

will be taken into account. 

A foreign consultant will be appointed to conduct 

the review, after which the CCM will engage with 

its parent ministry and the State Law Office to 

finalise the proposals. It is anticipated that the 

review will be completed in the mid 2019.   

 

 

Building Capacities 

The key to success lies in the capacity building of 

CCM’s staff and commissioners. The need to build 

in-house expertise and provide staff with 

specialised training will be a necessity. The CCM 

will invest in developing such skills as are necessary 

for staff to investigate each type of restrictive 

business practices effectively, as well as for 

commissioners in the discharge of their functions 

to issue decisions. Training will be in the form of: 

 in-house training by experts in the several 

fields of competition economics and law; 

 attendance to overseas workshops and 

institutes, experts in competition; 

 secondments to more experienced 

competition authorities, such as the 

Competition Commission of South Africa, 

which has a solid record in tracking down 

cartels; 

 attendance by commissioners to hearing 

sessions of other competition authorities; 

 sponsorships of post graduate diplomas in 

competition economics and law; and 

 other soft skills capacities, such as project 

managements amongst others.  
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COMPETITION COMMISSION OF MAURITIUS
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

as at 30 June 2017

30 Jun 2017 31 Dec 2015

Note Rs. Rs.

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4 16,136,381      11,670,045      

Short-Term staff car loan receivable 5 829,043           829,043           

Receivables 732,305           235,281           

Prepayments 244,693           152,750           

Inventories 6 284,143           324,409           

18,226,564      13,211,528      

Non-current assets

Long-Term staff car loan receivable 5 2,921,072        4,164,636        

Property, plant and equipment 7 3,825,911        2,604,537        

Intangible assets 8 375,250           78,904             

Retirement benefits obligations 11 4,042,140        2,875,439        

11,164,373      9,723,515        

TOTAL ASSETS 29,390,938      22,935,044      

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 9 3,466,225        790,728           

Employee obligations 10 2,717,386        2,074,068        

Short-Term staff car loan payable 5 829,043           829,043           

7,012,654        3,693,838        

Non-current liabilities 

Employee obligations 10 6,044,638        4,553,678        

Long-Term staff car loan payable 5 2,921,072        4,164,636        

8,965,710        8,718,314        

Total Liabilities 15,978,364      12,412,153      

Equity

Revaluation Surplus 1,085,969        180,404           

General fund 12,326,605      10,342,487      

13,412,574      10,522,891      

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 29,390,938      22,935,044      

(0)                     0                      

Amended financial statements approved by the Commission on 16 August 2018

……………………………….             …………………………………….

VICE-CHAIRPERSON COMMISSIONER

The notes on pages 52 to 64 form part of these financial statements.

COMPETITION COMMISSION OF MAURITIUS
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

for the period 1 January 2016 to 30 June 2017

18 Months 

ended 30 Jun 

2017

12 Months 

ended 31 Dec 

2015

Note Rs. Rs.

OPERATING REVENUE

Revenue grant from government 61,914,000    32,378,000    

Other operating revenue 12 13,055           28,792           

Total revenue 61,927,055    32,406,792    

OPERATING EXPENSES

Staff cost 13 36,066,291    21,535,943    

Commissioners' fee 6,384,113      3,039,523      

Training and Sponsorship 1,065,519      434,195         

Cooperation other authorities 790,531         -                 

Public education and information programme 320,473         -                 

Overseas visits 2,267,703      1,497,458      

Professional fees 3,263,342      1,037,528      

Rent and utilities 14 5,367,290      3,480,195      

Other operating expenses 15 2,914,399      1,567,318      

Depreciation and amortisation 7 & 8 1,493,464      1,037,611      

Impairment 9,331             

(Gain)/Loss on exchange rate 481                (10,188)          

Total expenses 59,942,937    33,619,583    

(DEFICIT)/SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 1,984,118      (1,212,792)     

-                 

The notes on pages 52 to 64 form part of these financial statements.
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COMPETITION COMMISSION OF MAURITIUS
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

for the period 1 January 2016 to 30 June 2017

18 Months 

ended 30 Jun 

2017

12 Months 

ended 31 Dec 

2015

Note Rs. Rs.

OPERATING REVENUE

Revenue grant from government 61,914,000    32,378,000    

Other operating revenue 12 13,055           28,792           

Total revenue 61,927,055    32,406,792    

OPERATING EXPENSES

Staff cost 13 36,066,291    21,535,943    

Commissioners' fee 6,384,113      3,039,523      

Training and Sponsorship 1,065,519      434,195         

Cooperation other authorities 790,531         -                 

Public education and information programme 320,473         -                 

Overseas visits 2,267,703      1,497,458      

Professional fees 3,263,342      1,037,528      

Rent and utilities 14 5,367,290      3,480,195      

Other operating expenses 15 2,914,399      1,567,318      

Depreciation and amortisation 7 & 8 1,493,464      1,037,611      

Impairment 9,331             

(Gain)/Loss on exchange rate 481                (10,188)          

Total expenses 59,942,937    33,619,583    

(DEFICIT)/SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 1,984,118      (1,212,792)     

-                 

The notes on pages 52 to 64 form part of these financial statements.
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COMPETITION COMMISSION OF MAURITIUS
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the period 1 January 2016 to 30 June 2017

Revaluation 

Surplus
General fund Total

Rs.

Balance as at 01 January 2015 -                 11,555,279    11,555,279    

Revaluation surplus for the year 180,404         180,404         

Deficit for the year (1,212,792)     (1,212,792)     

Balance as at 31 December 2015 180,404         10,342,487    10,522,891    

Balance as at 01 January 2016 180,404         10,342,487    10,522,891    

Revaluation surplus for the year 905,565         -                 905,565         

Surplus for the year -                 1,984,118      1,984,118      

Balance as at 30  June 2017 1,085,969      12,326,605    13,412,574    

-                 (0)                   (0)                   

The notes on pages 52 to 64 form part of these financial statements.
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COMPETITION COMMISSION OF MAURITIUS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the period 1 January 2016 to 30 June 2017

18 Months 

ended 30 Jun 

2017

12 Months 

ended 31 Dec 

2015

Note Rs. Rs.

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Net (deficit)/surplus for the year 1,984,118       (1,212,792)      

Adjustments for:-

Staff Cost - Retirement benefit obligations 11 (1,166,701)      (584,633)         

Depreciation and amortisation 7 & 8 1,493,464       1,037,611       

Impairment 9,331              -                  

Provision for refundable Leaves 10 1,490,960       1,388,235       

(Gain)/Loss on disposal of fixed assets (12,531)           -                  

Operating surplus before working capital changes 3,798,640       628,421          

(Increase)/decrease in receivables (497,024)         5,413              

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (91,943)           11,418            

(Increase)/decrease in inventories 40,266            161,958          

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 2,675,497       (150,499)         

Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 643,318          522,034          

Cash flow from operating activities 6,568,754       1,178,745       

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Acquisition of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 7 (2,131,316)      (416,740)         

Proceeds from sale of equipment 28,898            -                  

Car loans granted to staff 5 -                  (1,000,000)      

Loans Refunded to Accountant General 5 (1,243,564)      (736,828)         

Cash used in investing activities (3,345,983)      (2,153,569)      

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Loans received from Accountant General 5 -                  1,000,000       

Loans repaid by staff 5 1,243,564       736,828          

Cash inflow from financing activities 1,243,564       1,736,828       

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 4,466,336       762,005          

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 4 11,670,045     10,908,040     

16,136,381     11,670,045     

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 4 16,136,381     11,670,045     

The notes on pages 52 to 64 form part of these financial statements.
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COMPETITION COMMISSION OF MAURITIUS
STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS

for the period 1 January 2016 to 30 June 2017

Original 

Budget

Revised 

Budget
Actual paid

 Financial 

Statements 

Explanation on material differences 

between Original Budget and 

Financial Statement  Figures

Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Expenditures

Staff cost 37,899,000 36,239,000 34,641,526 36,066,291 
Savings due to vacancies and lower 

allowances paid

Commissioners' fees 6,503,000   6,470,000   6,384,113   6,384,113   Vacancy of Vice-Chairperson

Training and Sponsorship 1,482,000   1,072,000   1,067,019   1,065,519   Less trainings conducted

Cooperation other authorities -              795,500      790,531      790,531      

Cooperation programme with the 

Competition Commission of South 

Africa, African Competition Forum, 

and the COMESA Competition 

Commission

Public education and information programme 650,000      325,000      320,473      320,473      
Less advocacy conducted and funds 

used for Coop. with Authorities

Overseas visits 2,775,000   2,775,000   2,748,364   2,267,703   Lesser subsistence allowance

Professional fees 1,360,000   3,270,000   3,263,342   3,263,342   
IT Forensic Services in relation to 

raidsconducted

Electricity 540,000      545,000      517,650      542,920      

Telephone 420,000      425,000      391,937      423,855      

Office rent 4,140,000   4,140,000   4,139,838   4,139,838   

Other rent 15,000        50,000        48,200        48,200        
Increase in requirements due to raids 

conducted

Parking facilities 225,000      225,000      212,477      212,477      Decrease in requirements

Advertising 180,000      190,000      147,377      181,877      

Fuel and motor vehicle expenses 440,000      440,000      433,072      408,104      

Office repairs and maintenance 150,000      220,000      216,594      218,937      Increase in requirements 

Cleaning services 280,000      260,000      256,578      256,578      Decrease in requirements

Insurance 17,500        17,500        9,482          17,400        

Stationeries and consumables 550,000      635,000      600,073      634,160      
Increase in requirements due to raids 

conducted

Books, Periodicals and Publications 375,000      355,000      353,424      326,582      Decrease in requirements

Postage 70,000        50,000        36,126        39,493        Decrease in requirements

Bank charges 45,000        45,000        39,923        39,923        Decrease in requirements

Other office expenses 272,000      220,000      206,564      197,390      Decrease in requirements

IT expenses 630,000      650,000      647,170      593,954      Decrease in requirements

Gain/(Loss) on exchange rate -              -              -              481             

Capital expenditures 2,500,000   2,500,000   1,070,372   2,131,316   Decrease in requirements

61,518,500 61,914,000 58,542,225 60,571,459 

-              

The notes on pages 52 to 64 form part of these financial statements.

For the purpose of the above comparison, depreciation and amortisation figures in the Financial Statement have been replaced by the actual capital 

spending on property, plant, equipment and intangible assets. These are presented under the item Capital expenditures.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS       

For the period 1 January 2016 to 30 June 2017 

     

1. General information      

   (a) Legal form and objectives     

The Competition Commission of Mauritius (CCM) is a statutory body established in 2009, running 

under the aegis of the Ministry of Financial Services and Good Governance, to enforce the 

Competition Act 2007. The Act established a competition regime in Mauritius, under which the CCM 

can investigate possible anticompetitive behavior by businesses.  

The CCM is mandated, among others, to:     

(i) keep the operation of markets in Mauritius and the conditions of competition in those markets 

under constant review;     

         (ii)  investigate any suspected breach of the prohibition of restrictive agreements;  

(iii) undertake general studies on the effectiveness of competition in individual sectors of the 

economy in Mauritius;    

(iv) liaise and exchange information, knowledge and expertise with competition authorities in 

other countries entrusted with functions similar to those of the Commission;   

(v) advise the Minister on international agreements relevant to competition matters and to this 

Act; and    

(vi) publish and otherwise promote and advertise the provisions of the Act and the activities of the 

Commission.     

2. Accounting policies      

         The principal accounting policies adopted by CCM are as follows:     

         (a) Basis of preparation     

The financial statements of CCM have been prepared in accordance with the International Public 

Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs), issued by the International Public Sector Accounting Board 

(IPSASB) which is a Board of the International Federation of Accountants Committee (IFAC).  

The financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis and the accounting policies 

have been applied consistently throughout the year. They have been prepared on the historical 

cost basis, adjusted for revaluation of assets.     

         (b) Measurement and presentation currency     

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary 

economic environment in which the entity operates.  The financial statements are presented in 

Mauritian Rupees, which is CCM's measurement currency. 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the measurement currency using the exchange 

rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Exchange differences are recognised in the period 

in which they arise.      
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS       

For the period 1 January 2016 to 30 June 2017 

     

2. Accounting policies (cont'd)      

    (c) Revenue recognition     

Revenue comprises mainly of government grants. It is recognised to the extent that it is probable 

that economic benefits will flow to the organisation and the revenue can be reliably measured.   

(i) Revenue grant     

Grants received from Government to meet recurrent expenditure are treated as revenue grant.  

(ii) Capital grant     

Up to 31 December 2013, grants received to finance capital expenditure were treated as Deferred 

Income in the Statement of Financial Position and credited in instalments to the Statement of 

Financial Performance over the expected useful economic lives of the related assets on a basis 

consistent with its depreciation policy.     

With the full implementation of IPSAS 23 ‘Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and 

Transfers)’ as from 1 January 2014, the deferment policy has been reviewed and transfers 

received are now recognised as income in the period in which the transfer arrangement becomes 

binding.  

    

(d) Inventories     

Inventories consist of stationeries and consumables, and are stated at the lower of cost and net 

realisable value. Cost comprises of all costs that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to 

their present location and condition. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less 

the estimated cost to be incurred in selling.     

(e) Accounts receivable     

Accounts receivable are stated at their nominal value, reduced by appropriate allowances for 

estimated irrecoverable amounts.     

    (f) Cash and cash equivalents     

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the Statement of Financial Position at fair value. For the 

purposes of the cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents comprises of cash in hand and bank 

balances.     

     (g) Foreign currency transactions     

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Mauritian Rupees at the exchange rate ruling at 

the date of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 

translated at the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date and gains or losses on translation 

are recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance.     

     (h) Accounts payable     

           Accounts payable are stated at their fair value.     
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS       

For the period 1 January 2016 to 30 June 2017 

       

2. Accounting policies (cont'd)      

    (i) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation     

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment 

loss. Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of the property, plant and equipment on a 

straight line basis over their expected useful lives. Depreciation charged in the year of acquisition 

and disposal, is calculated on the approximate number of days the asset is used.  

The estimated useful lives are as follows:     

  Furniture and fittings  10 years  

  Office equipment  8 years  

  IT equipment   4 - 6 years  

  Motor vehicles   8 years  

The gains or losses arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is 

determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and 

is recognised in Statement of Financial Performance. 

Capital expenditure costing Rs 5,000 and less is expensed in the Statement of Financial Performance 

as from 2016.  

     

 (j) Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment     

Property, plant and equipment are revalued internally. Increase in carrying amount of a class of 

assets is credited directly to revaluation surplus. However, the increase is recognised in surplus or 

deficit to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same class of assets previously 

recognised in surplus or deficit.     

If the carrying amount of a class of assets is decreased, the decrease is recognised in surplus or 

deficit.  However the decrease is directly debited to revaluation surplus to the extent of any credit 

balance existing in the revaluation surplus in respect of that class of assets.     

On retirement or disposal of a revalued asset, the whole revaluation surplus in respect of that asset 

is transferred directly to the accumulated surplus or deficit.    

Capitalised items prior to 2016 costing Rs 5,000 or less as well as those to be disposed are not 

subject to revaluation.     

       

       (k) Intangible assets     

IT Software costs are recognised as intangible assets and amortized in the Statement of Financial 

Performance using the straightline method over their useful lives, not exceeding a period of 5 

years.     

       (l) Lease     

The CCM has a lease agreement for the occupation of the 10th floor at Hennessy Court for office 

purposes. 

(m) At each reporting date, CCM reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether 

there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 

exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 

impairment loss, if any, and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS       

For the period 1 January 2016 to 30 June 2017 

 

2. Accounting policies (cont'd)      

    (m) Impairment (cont'd)     

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 

amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised 

immediately in the Statement of Financial Performance, unless the relevant asset is carried at a 

revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.   

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to 

the revised estimate of its recoverable amount so that the increased in carrying amount does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 

recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately 

in the Statement of Financial Performance, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, 

in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.   

       

    (n) Employee benefits    

          (i) Retirement benefits under defined benefit pension scheme     

CCM is a pensionable office and operates both a defined benefit scheme and a defined 

contribution scheme. The assets are managed by the SICOM Ltd.     

Under the defined benefit scheme, the cost of providing the benefit is determined in accordance 

with actuarial review.     

The present value of defined benefit obligations is recognised in the Statement of Financial 

Position as a non-current liability or non-current asset after adjusting for fair value of plan assets, 

any unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and any unrecognised past service cost. 

The current service cost and any unrecognised past service cost are included as an expense 

together with the associated interest cost, net of expected return on plan assets.   

        (ii)  Retirement benefits under defined contribution pension scheme     

A public pension defined contribution scheme has been set up with effect from 1 January 2013 

following amendments to the Statutory Bodies Pension Funds Act 1978. New entrants on 

pensionable basis, as from 1 January 2013, contributes 6% of their salaries to this scheme. The 

CCM contribute 12% and such contributions are charged to the Statement of Financial 

Performance in the period to which it relates.    

       (iii) Family protection scheme     

For those employees holding a permanent and pensionable post, CCM also contributes to the 

Family Protection Scheme managed by SICOM Ltd. For those working on contractual basis or who 

are on probation or traineeship, CCM contributes to the National Pension Scheme. The 

contributions are expensed to the Statement of Financial Performance in the year in which they 

fall due.    

        (iv) Employee leave entitlement     

Employees are entitled to refundable annual and/or sick leave as may be defined in the terms 

and conditions of their contract of employment. Any balance of unutilised refundable leaves is 

valued at the end of the financial year and is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. A 

provision is also made in respect of accumulated vacation leaves at the end of the financial year 

in the Financial Statements.    
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS       

For the period 1 January 2016 to 30 June 2017 

     

2. Accounting policies (cont'd)      

   (o) Employee disclosure     

         As at 30 June 2017, CCM had seventeen employees on permanent and pensionable basis, including   

one on interdiction with pay since May 2015, and one on contractual basis.     

   (p) Provisions     

Provisions are recognised when CCM has a present obligation as a result of a past events, and it is 

probable that it will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at CCM best 

estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the Statement of Financial Position 

date, and are discounted to present value where the effect is material.     

 (q) Contingent Liabilities     

 As at  30 June 2017, the CCM had approved a sum of Rs 1m for the settlement of possible legal charges 

and damages relating to a case lodged against former Executive Director, Dr. Sean Ennis, during the 

performance of his duty.  

 At the date of reporting, an amount of Rs 201,696 had been paid and there is no clear indication 

whether the balancing figure of Rs 798,304 will be used. 

     

(r) Related parties     

For the purpose of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to CCM if they have 

the ability to control the CCM or exercise significant influence over financial and operating decision 

making. 

All transactions undertaken with related parties were carried at commercial terms and conditions. 

    

(s) Risk management policies     

     CCM adopts a conservative approach to risk management. A description of the significant risk factors   

are given below together with any relevant risk management policies:     

    (i) Operational risk management     

    Operational risk, which is inherent in all organisations activities, is the risk of financial loss instability 

arising from failures in internal controls, operational processes or the system that supports them. It 

is considered that such risks can never be entirely eliminated and the costs of controls in minimising 

these risks may outweigh the potential benefits.     

    (ii) Legal risk     

 Legal risk is the risk that the business activities of CCM have unintended or unexpected legal   

consequences. It includes risks arising from:     

-inadequate documentation, legal or regulatory incapacity, insufficient authority of a counterparty   

and uncertainty about the validity or enforceability of a contract in counterparty insolvency; 

-actual or potential violations of law or regulation (including activities unauthorised for the CCM and 

which may attract a civil or criminal fine or penalty);    
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS       

For the period 1 January 2016 to 30 June 2017 

     

2. Accounting policies (cont'd)      

    (ii) Legal risk (cont'd)     

- the possibility of civil claims (including acts or other events which may lead to litigation or other 

disputes); CCM identifies and manages legal risk through its legal team and the support of an 

external lawyer, as and when required.  

    

3. Accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies.  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IPSAS requires management to exercise 

judgement in the process of applying the accounting policies. It also requires the use of accounting 

estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. Judgements and estimates are continuously evaluated and are based on historical 

experience and other factors, including expectations and assumptions concerning future events that 

are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The actual results could, by definition 

therefore, often differ from the related accounting estimates. 

 

5. Staff car loan      

Members of CCM's staff are granted car loans, via the Accountant General, as per conditions stipulated 

in the CCM Human Resources Management Manual. Outstanding capital on loan due to the Accountant 

General is disclosed  into the accounts as liablities to the CCM, as the onus of ensuring reimbursement 

is transferred to the latter. Amount due by staff are disclosed into the accounts as assets to the CCM. 

Amount refunded by staff are immediately repaid to the Accountant General, such that amount of 

capital due by staff is equivalent to the amount due to the Accountant General.   

  

4. Cash and cash equivalents 18 Months 

ended 30 Jun 

2017

12 Months 

ended 31 Dec 

2015

Rs. Rs.

Cash at bank 16,122,431    11,660,122    

Cash in hand -                 -                 

Petty cash balance 13,950           9,923             

16,136,381    11,670,045    

No interest is earned on bank deposits; the fair value of cash is Rs16,136,381 (2015: Rs11,670,045).

18 Months 

ended 30 Jun 

2017

12 Months 

ended 31 Dec 

2015

Rs. Rs.

Opening balance 4,993,679      4,730,507      

Loan granted to staff, via the Accountant General -                 1,000,000      

Loan refunded by staff and consequently to the Accountant General (1,243,564)     (736,828)        

Closing balance 3,750,115      4,993,679      

-                 

Analysed as follows:

Short-Term staff car loan - Receivable/Payable within one year 829,043         829,043         

Long-Term staff car loan - Receivable/Payable after one year 2,921,072      4,164,636      

3,750,115      4,993,679      
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS       

For the period 1 January 2016 to 30 June 2017 

  

 

 

  

6. Inventories 18 Months 

ended 30 Jun 

2017

12 Months 

ended 31 Dec 

2015

Rs. Rs.

Stationeries 271,059         313,298         

Consumables 13,084           11,111           

284,143         324,409         

7. Property, plant and equipment

Furniture & 

fittings

Office 

equipment
IT equipment

Motor 

vehicles
Total

Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Cost

At  01 January 2016 1,543,933      1,234,610      2,825,210      839,450         6,443,204      

Revaluation (411,007)        (639,450)        (1,050,457)     

Additions 772,124         436,605         922,588         2,131,316      

Impairment (203,149)        (203,149)        

Disposal (33,231)          (14,856)          (757,960)        -                 (806,047)        

At 30 June 2017 2,282,826      1,453,211      2,578,831      200,000         6,514,868      
-                 -                 -                 -                 

Depreciation

At  01 January 2016 671,900         797,024         1,670,201      699,542         3,838,667      

Revaluation (741,322)        (839,450)        (1,580,772)     

Charge for the year 277,260         236,118         761,274         139,908         1,414,560      

Impairment (193,818)        (193,818)        

Disposal (22,780)          (11,036)          (755,864)        -                 (789,680)        

At 30 June 2017 926,380         828,287         934,289         (0)                   2,688,957      
-                 -                 -                 (0)                   

Net book value

At 30 June 2017 1,356,446      624,924         1,644,541      200,000         3,825,911      

At 31 December 2015 872,033         437,586         1,155,009      139,908         2,604,537      

Note: CCM is of the opinion that the net book value of the property, plant and equipment approximates its fair

value.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS       

For the period 1 January 2016 to 30 June 2017 

 

   
 

8. Intangible assets IT Software

Rs.

Cost

At  01 January 2016 1,031,598      

Revaluation (586,802)        

Additions -                 

Disposal (69,546)          

At 30 June 2017 375,250         

-                 

Amortisation

At  01 January 2016 952,695         

Revaluation (962,052)        

Charge for the year 78,904           

Disposal (69,546)          

At 30 June 2017 0                    

0                    

Net book value

At 30 June 2017 375,250         

At 31 December 2015 78,904           

9. Trade and other payables

18 Months 

ended 30 Jun 

2017

12 Months 

ended 31 Dec 

2015

Rs. Rs.

Trade creditors 1,179,157      727,886         

Accruals 2,287,069      62,843           

3,466,225      790,728         

10. Employee obligations

18 Months 

ended 30 Jun 

2017

12 Months 

ended 31 Dec 

2015

Rs. Rs.

Current liabilities - Payable within one year

Provision for gratuity 122,663         359,534         

Provision for passage benefits 1,064,174      999,632         

Provision for refundable leaves (see below) 1,530,549      714,902         

2,717,386      2,074,068      

Refundable leaves payable:

Current liabilities - Payable within one year 1,530,549      714,902         

Non-current liabilities - Payable after one year 6,044,638      4,553,678      

7,575,187      5,268,580      

11. Retirement benefit obligations

CCM operates a defined pension benefit scheme for qualifying employees which is held and administered

independently by SICOM Ltd. Under the scheme, the employees are entitled to retirement benefits at 66.6

per cent of their final salary on attainment of retirement age. The schemes are funded schemes.

The most recent actuarial valuations of the plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit

obligation were carried out at 30 June 2017 by SICOM Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS       

For the period 1 January 2016 to 30 June 2017 

 

 

 

 

  

11. Retirement benefit obligations

Amounts recognised in statement of financial position at the end of the 

period

18 Months 

ended 30 Jun 

2017

12 Months 

ended 31 Dec 

2015

Rs. Rs.

Present value of funded obligation 12,328,908    9,424,163      

Fair value of plan assets (10,710,273)   (7,217,805)     

1,618,635      2,206,358      

Unrecognised actuarial loss (5,660,775)     (5,081,797)     

Liability recognised in statement of financial position at end of the 

period
(4,042,140)     (2,875,439)     

Amounts recognised in statement of comprehensive income:

Current service cost 1,748,032      966,489         

Employee contributions (1,059,795)     (598,629)        

Fund expenses 56,993           32,872           

Interest cost 918,856         590,947         

(Expected return on plan assets) (853,934)        (495,066)        

Actuarial loss recognised 142,737         116,012         

Total, included in staff costs 952,889         612,625         

Movement in liability recognised in statement of financial position:

At start of period (2,875,439)     (2,290,806)     

Total staff cost as above 952,889         612,625         

(Contributions paid by employer) (2,119,590)     (1,197,258)     

(Actuarial reserves transferred in) -                 

At end of year (4,042,140)     (2,875,439)     

Actual return on plan assets: 741,190         70,608           

Main actuarial assumptions at end of the period:

Discount rate 6.50% 7.50%

Expected rate of return on plan assets 6.50% 7.50%

Future salary increases 4.00% 5.00%

Future pension increases 3.00% 3.00%

The assets of the plan are invested in funds managed by State Insurance Company of Mauritius Ltd.  

The  discount rate is determined by reference to market yields on bonds.
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11. Retirement benefit obligations (cont'd)

18 Months 

ended 30 Jun 

2017

12 Months 

ended 31 Dec 

2015

Rs. Rs.

Reconciliation of the present value of defined benefit obligation

Present value of obligation at start of period 9,424,163      7,879,298      

Current service cost 1,748,032      966,489         

Interest cost 918,856         590,947         

(Benefits paid) (41,399)          (364,922)        

Liability (gain)/loss 279,256         352,351         

Present value of obligation at end of period 12,328,908    9,424,163      

Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at start of period 7,217,805      5,901,827      

Expected return on plan assets 853,934         495,066         

Employer contributions 2,119,590      1,197,258      

Employee contributions 1,059,795      598,629         

Fund Expenses -                 (32,872)          

(Benefits paid + other outgo) (98,392)          (364,922)        

Asset (loss) / gain (442,459)        (577,181)        

Fair value of plan assets at end of period 10,710,273    7,217,805      

Distribution of plan assets at end of period

18 Months 

ended 30 Jun 

2017

12 Months 

ended 31 Dec 

2015

Percentage of assets at end of period

Government securities and cash 56.60% 58.10%

Loans 4.40% 4.30%

Local equities 15.80% 15.90%

Overseas bonds and equities 22.60% 21.00%

Property 0.60% 0.70%

Debenture stocks 0.00% 0.00%

Total 100.00% 100.00%

Additional disclosure on assets issued or used by the reporting entity

18 Months 

ended 30 Jun 

2017

12 Months 

ended 31 Dec 

2015

Percentage of assets at end of period        

Assets held in the entity's own financial instruments 0.00% 0.00%

Property occupied by the entity 0.00% 0.00%

Other assets used by the entity 0.00% 0.00%
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11. Retirement benefit obligations (cont'd)

History of obligations, assets and experience adjustments

18 Months 

ended 30 Jun 

2017

12 Months 

ended 31 Dec 

2015

Rs. Rs.

Fair value of plan assets 10,710,273    7,217,805      

(Present value of defined benefit obligation) (12,328,908)   (9,424,163)     

Surplus/(Deficit) (1,618,635)     (2,206,358)     

Asset experience gain/(loss) during the period (442,459)        (577,181)        

Liability experience gain/ (loss) during the period (279,256)        (352,351)        

Expected employer contributions for year ending 30 June 2018:  Rs 1,536,000

12. Other operating revenue

18 Months 

ended 30 Jun 

2017

12 Months 

ended 31 Dec 

2015

Rs. Rs.

Interest received -                 28,212           

Sundry Income 13,055           580                

13,055           28,792           

13. Staff cost

18 Months 

ended 30 Jun 

2017

12 Months 

ended 31 Dec 

2015

Rs. Rs.

Salary 23,671,136    14,018,112    

Allowances 1,609,170      373,455         

End of Year Bonus 1,163,145      1,006,323      

Travelling 2,513,364      1,411,680      

Pension 1,771,196      1,096,905      

Gratuities 718,129         405,934         

Passage benefits 994,704         655,045         

Refund of leaves 3,080,723      1,650,826      

Staff Insurance Schemes 534,704         378,676         

Staff Welfare (45,703)          82,904           

Duty Free to Staff -                 456,083         

Stipend to Trainees 55,722           -                 

36,066,291    21,535,943    
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14. Rent and utilities

18 Months 

ended 30 Jun 

2017

12 Months 

ended 31 Dec 

2015

Rs. Rs.

Electricity 542,920         335,650         

Telephone 423,855         247,838         

Office Rent 4,139,838      2,759,892      

Other Rent 48,200           -                 

Parking facilities 212,477         136,815         

5,367,290      3,480,195      

15. Other operating expenses

18 Months 

ended 30 Jun 

2017

12 Months 

ended 31 Dec 

2015

Rs. Rs.

Advertising 181,877         92,833           

Fuel and motor vehicle expenses 408,104         342,125         

Office repairs and maintenance 218,937         43,338           

Cleaning services 256,578         133,885         

Insurance 17,400           6,895             

Stationeries and consumables 634,160         319,270         

Books, Periodicals and Publications 326,582         139,528         

Postage 39,493           28,609           

Bank charges 39,923           20,320           

Other office expenses 197,390         122,888         

IT Expenses 593,954         317,628         

2,914,399      1,567,318      

16. Operating lease

18 Months 

ended 30 Jun 

2017

12 Months 

ended 31 Dec 

2015

Rs. Rs.

Payable within one year 2,759,892      2,759,892      

Payable after one year 1,483,813      103,867         

4,243,705      2,863,759      

The future minimum lease payments under the operating lease agreement for the occupation of floor

spaces at Hennessy Court for office  purposes are as follows:
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17. Related party transactions

Key management personnel

18 Months 

ended 30 Jun 

2017

12 Months 

ended 31 Dec 

2015

Rs. Rs.

Total emoluments and benefits 12,970,283     5,614,687       

Other Fringe Benefits

18. Revaluation of Assets

18 Months 

ended 30 Jun 

2017

12 Months 

ended 31 Dec 

2015

IT equipment 330,315           180,404           

IT Software 375,250           

Motor vehicles 200,000           

905,565           180,404           

The whole class of IT Equipment, IT Software and Motor Vehicle were revalued internally, with effective date

30 June 2016. The valuation exercise resulted in a surplus of Rs 905,565 made up as follows:

Key management personnel are persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and

controlling the activities of the Commission.

The Executive Director and Chairperson benefitted from the exclusive use of official car from the car pool of

the Government, managed by the Mauritius Police Force.
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